
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Monday 8 March 2021 
 

Development Panel 
 

Tuesday 16 March 2021, 1.00 pm 
 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Daniel Horsley 
Councillor Adrian Kirkbride Councillor Elaine Lynch 
Councillor Ron Munby MBE Councillor Andrew Semple 
Councillor Alan Smith Councillor Alan Tyson 
 

This meeting will be broadcast live on the Allerdale Borough Council YouTube™ Channel.  
 

If you have any questions or queries contact Lee Jardine on 01900 702502 or 
lee.jardine@allerdale.gov.uk. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2021 
  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from Councillors and members of the public – submitted in 
writing or by electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two 
clear working days before the day of the meeting. 



  

5. Development Panel - Land at Ashfield Road South, Workington - Reserved 
matters application for phase 2 of approved outline application 2/2014/0857 
for 255 new dwellings  (Pages 7 - 34) 

 

6. Development Panel - Siddick Overbridge, Siddick, Workington - 
Reconstruction of existing highway bridge, construction of new footbridge, 
realignment of existing footway and associated works including a 
Temporary Vehicle Level Crossing, haul road and vehicle waiting area to 
enable the highways diversion during the highways bridge works  (Pages 
35 - 52) 

 

7. Development Panel - Cattle Pound at High Ellerbeck Bridge, Ellerbeck Row, 
Brigham.  (Pages 53 - 60) 

 

 
 

 
 
Chief Executive 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Tuesday 13 April 2021, 1.00 pm 

Zoom Virtual Meeting 
 
 



At a meeting of the Development Panel held in Zoom Virtual Meeting on Tuesday 19 
January 2021 at 1.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Nicky Cockburn (Chair) Councillor Malcolm Grainger (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Carole Armstrong Councillor Allan Daniels 
Councillor Janet Farebrother Councillor Alan Hedworth 
Councillor Daniel Horsley Councillor Adrian Kirkbride 
Councillor Elaine Lynch Councillor Ron Munby MBE 
Councillor Andrew Semple Councillor Alan Smith 
 
Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Alan Tyson 
 
Staff Present 
 
J Irving, L Jardine, S Sewell and S Sharp 
 
 
279. Declaration of Interests  

 
None declared 
 

280. Questions  
 
None received 
 

281. Development Panel - FUL/2020/0224 - Replacement machinery store and 
silage pit building, Swinsty Farm, Swinsty, Abbeytown  
 
Representations 
 
A statement in support of the application was read out on behalf of Councillor 
Tony Markley. 
 
The Agent, Anthea Jones spoke in support of the application. 
 
Application 
 
The report recommended to Grant permission subject to conditions. 
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager then went through the main issues 
as detailed in the report.  
 
Principle of Development 
 
The proposed silage pit is an appropriate development supporting an existing 
farming business, and is appropriately designed and related to the existing farm 
buildings. 
 
Scale and Design 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Officers consider the proposed development is acceptable and assimilates into 
the local landscape. 
 
Flood Risk & Drainage 
 
The site is entirely in flood zone 1. There will be no increase in surface water 
run off as the site is currently hardstanding and contains buildings. The surface 
water will go to the existing drainage system. 
 
Heritage 
 
The application proposals seek to improve the setting of the listed building in 
replacing the existing with a more sensitively designed building than the one it 
replaces. It introduces a gap between the listed building and agricultural 
buildings causing significantly less than substantial harm to the setting. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
The existing access to the farm will be unchanged and there will be no increase 
in traffic as a result of the proposal. 
 
Members were also shown images and plans of the site. 
 
Members noted the representations received in respect of the application, the 
main grounds of which were set out in the report.  
 
Questions were asked in relation to drainage and members were satisfied with 
the officer’s report. 
 
Councillor Grainger moved the application to approve the application as per 
officers’ recommendations. 
 
The motion to approve was seconded by Councillor Armstrong. 
 
A vote was taken on the motion to approve, 12 voted in favour, 0 against and 0 
abstentions. 
 
The motion was carried. 
 
Resolution 
 
Permission granted subject to conditions 
 
CONDITIONS  
 
Time Limit:  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.  

Page 4



 
In Accordance:  

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 

accordance with the following plans:  
 

 Location Plan  

 Location Plan PB1  

 Block Plan  

 S2.03b Floor Plan and Elevations  

 Design & Access Statement and Heritage Statement  
 
Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete 
accordance with the approved plans and any material and non-material 
alterations to the scheme are properly considered. 

 
The meeting closed at 1.20 pm 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application RMA/2020/0502 
 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: RMA/2020/00502 

Valid Date: 17.12.2020 

Location: Land at Ashfield Road South, Workington 

Applicant: David Wright Glesson Homes 

Proposal: Reserved matters application for phase 2 of approved 
outline application 2/2014/0857 for 255 new dwellings 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approval of reserved matters subject to conditions   

 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of Development The principle of the development was 
approved under outline permission 
2/2014/0857 for up to 290 dwellings.  

Phase 1 for 35 dwellings is now 
complete. This reserved matters 
application is for phase 2 for 220 
dwellings. 

The reserved matters relate to 
appearance, scale, landscape and 
layout. The primary and secondary 
vehicular access routes were approved 
under the outline scheme 2/2014/0857. 

The proposed tenure split for affordable 
homes is 50% rented (19 units) and 
50% discounted sale (19 units). The 
proposal provides 38 affordable homes 
in total which is 15% of the proposal in 
accordance with the section 106 legal 
agreement under 2/2104/0857. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Appearance The appearance of the dwellings are 
consistent and acceptable for this 
suburban location. 

Scale The 2, 3 and 4 bedroom dwellings, 
either detached, semi-detached or of 
single storey type are of a suitable scale 
for the locality. This is in accordance 
with Policies S2, S4 and S32 of the 
Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1). 

Landscape The landscaping scheme is acceptable 
and is an important feature of the 
scheme to address tree retention where 
appropriate. 

It has been necessary to provide for 
adequate screening and wildlife 
corridors along Ashfield Road and 
within the vicinity of Ellerbeck. 

A significant compensatory tree 
replanting scheme is proposed 
throughout the housing development 
given a central plantation and a portion 
of the landscaping along the southern 
boundary is proposed to be removed in 
order to accommodate the scheme. 

An updated ecological statement 
concludes that the removal of trees as 
proposed, in order to accommodate the 
SUDS basin, will not have a direct 
impact on protected species.  

A formal play area which was originally 
proposed in the woodland adjacent to 
Ellerbeck has been removed to provide 
a play trail which has greater 
compatibility with the woodland area. 

Layout  The housing layout is acceptable for this 
suburban location and accommodates 
several areas of public open space and 
a SUDS basin.  

Drainage The layout accommodates acceptable 
drainage arrangements. Foul drainage 
to mains. A pumping station is required 
for the south end of the site.  

Page 8



A SUDS basin is proposed at the south  
western boundary with an outfall to the 
existing watercourse known as 
Ellerbeck. 

 
2.0      Proposal 
 
2.1     This reserved matters application is pursuant to the outline permission 

2/2014/0857 and relates to phase 2 of the Ashfield Road South housing 
development. This reserved matters application considers Layout, Scale, 
Appearance and Landscaping. The vehicular access arrangements onto 
Ashfield Road South and the secondary access to Phase 1 (Potter’s Meadow, 
now a complete housing scheme) were considered and approved at the 
outline stage.  

 
2.2     The proposal is for 220 dwellings including a mix of types and tenure. The 

proposed housing mix is: 33 number x  2 bed dwelling units; 140 number x 3 
bed units and 47 number x 4 bed units. 

 
2.3     The affordable housing provision within this mix is for 19 homes for rent and 

19 homes for affordable low cost sale.This equates to 15% of the housing 
development as secured by the section 106 legal agreement under outline 
approval 2/2014/0857. 

 
2.4      Several areas of public open space are proposed as well as landscaping belts 

along the road frontage and rear (southern eastern) boundary. The scheme 
proposes an open surface water attenuation swale near to the south western 
corner of the site. A ramped path loops around this swale and connects to the 
existing public right of way that runs to the south of the site. Details provided 
address the design and layout, elevation treatments and materials, road 
access and highway works, house types and tenure, external works, hard and 
soft landscaping, boundary treatment, parking arrangements, and the layout 
regards the drainage strategy and strategies to protect habitats and species.  
  

2.5 The Plans for consideration are:- 
 

o 1755 - PL 100 Location Plan  
o 1755 - Design and Access Statement Jan 2021 
o 1755 - PL 214 (C) Site layout plan as proposed 
o Landscape Plan Rev B 1.02.21 
o 1755 - PL 214 (B) Build Route 
o 1755 – PL215 (A) Boundaries and enclosures 
o 1755 – PL 216 (B) Affordable housing plan and proposed received 19.2.21 
o 1755 - PL 217 (A) Public open space (Except POS G play area) 
o 1755 – PL 218 (A) Parking and layout as proposed 
o 1755-PL510 A Street Elevations as proposed 19.2.21 
o 1755 – PL 219 (A) Service plan as proposed 
o 20104 – D001 Overall engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – D002 Engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – D003 Engineering layout Rev 2 

Page 9



o 20104 – D004 Engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – Direct Cut and Fill D600 Rev 1 Manhole schedules Rev 2 
o 20104 – D201 Typical SUDs details Rev 1 
o 20104 – D202 – Flood routing plan 
o 20104 – D300 Road long sections Rev 2 
o 20104 – D301 Road long sections Rev 1 
o 20104 – D302 Road long sections Rev 1 
o 20104 – Direct cut and fill  D600 Rev 1 
o 20104 – Direct cut and fill D600 Rev 2 
o 20104 – D700 Road construction Rev 1 
o 20104 – D701 Drainage detail Rev 1 
o SHE – 0338 -7220-1500-7220 Hydrobreak 
o SHE – 0338-7220-1500-7220 Hydraulic charctersitics 
o Brick Swatches number 

 
House Types 
 

o 201 – rural elevation plan 13/201 –B Rev A 
o 201 Floor plans 
o 254 01 Planning layout - 2 bedroom bungalow 
o 301 Floor plans -301 G – 3 bedroom dwelling 
o 301 (AG) – 8 Rural 13 Elevations 13/301 – 8 Rev E Type 301 
o 302 (AB) – 9 Rural 13 Elevations 13/302 – 9 Rev E Type 302 
o 3022 s(G) planning – floor plans 302/ 1G (3 bedroom dwelling) 
o 303 floor plans 303 dwelling type 303 1/E 
o 303 (AE) 9 Rural 13 elevations 13/303 -9 Rev F 
o 314 Rural dwg 443/220 
o 337 floor plans 
o 337 (A) 10 Rural 13 Elevations 13/337 – 10 Rev A 
o 340 Floor plans 340/1 dwelling type 340 dwelling type 
o 340 -341 (A) – 10 Rural 13 Elevations 13/340 -10 Rev 
o 350 – Elevations (Rural) 13/350 - 8 Rev B 
o 350 Floor plans 350 dwelling type 350/1 A 
o House type 353 Elevations Rural 13/353 09 Rev A 
o House type 353 Floor plans 353/1A 
o 360 Elevations (Rural) type 360 Elevations (Rural)13 13/360 – 9 Rev A 
o 360 Floor Plans 360/1B 
o 401 Floor Plans - 401 dwelling type 401/1G 
o 401 (T) 9 Rural 13 Elevations 13/401 -9 Rev C 
o 403 Rural Elevations Type 403 Rural Elevations (Rural 13) 13/403 – 9 Rev 

C 
o 403 Floor plans 403 dwelling type 403/1H 
o 435 Floor plans 435/1A 
o 435 Rural Elevations Type 435 13/435 -9 Rev A 
o 454 Planning drawing 454/1A 

 
Supporting Information 
 

o Cover Statement 
o Addendum letter update ecology 10/12/21 

Page 10



o Updated Ecological appraisal 
o Landscape plan Rev B A0 01.02.21 
o Transport Statement Dec 2020 VN201743 
o Ashfield South Road Interim Management plan Jan 2021 
o Ashfield Road South Build route Phasing Plan 12.02.21 1755-PL214 Rev 

B 
o Contruction Mnagement Plan Jan 2021 
o 20104 Flood risk assessment RL/FRADS/20104 Dec 2020 version 3 

 
The documents can be viewed here:- 
 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DVlDUAW/rma20200502 
 

 
3.0 Site 

 
3.1 The 9.24 hectare application site lies approximately 2km south of Workington 

town centre in the Moorclose / Westfield area, and to the southern side of 
Ashfield Road South. The phase 2 element of the site is currently 
undeveloped greenfield land falls gently towards its southern boundary. Belts 
of trees are located within the site and adjacent to the boundaries. The 
residential areas of Potter’s Meadow and Chaucer Road are located to the 
east, with rear gardens of the properties on Ellerbeck Close plus open farm 
land to the south. The playing fields and sports area associated with the 
Moorclose Campus are situated to the west. A public right of way runs to the 
south of the site along Ellerbeck.  

 

3.2      The proposed site comprises of semi natural habitats including grassland, 
mixed and broadleaved woodland. Land along the boundaries to the north and 
south are dominated by mixed woodland. A linear tract of plantation 
broadleaved woodland is present in the middle of the northern most field. The 
majority of land within the site comprises of poor semi improved grassland 
enclosed by woodland and grassland boundaries. 

 
 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 

 
4.1 The outline permission for 290 dwellings (ref 2/2014/0857) was granted 

subject to conditions and a section 106 agreement on 29th September 2017. 
The section 106 requires: 

 
a) An education contribution of £60,255 (Five primary pupils) agreed by 

Cumbria County Council’s education department; 
b) Affordable housing provision of 15%; 
c) A phased approach with no public open space, affordable or education 

contributions within the first phase; 
d) The development to be implemented in a phased programme with the 

delivery of affordable housing at the back end. This second phase 

Page 11

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DVlDUAW/rma20200502
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DVlDUAW/rma20200502


development, in its layout, has a requirement to accommodate affordable 
housing units and public open space.  

e) The permission encompassed both phases 1 and 2, the former comprising 
of 35 dwellings now complete. The reserved matters for phase 1 (Potter’s 
Meadow) was granted on the 24th April 2018. 

 
4.2     There remains an alternative pending reserved matters application for phase 2 

by Lovell Homes for 255 dwellings under applications RMA/2019/0002. Lovell, 
for the second phase, also applied for an additional 12 dwellings within the 
site, the necessity for the application (FUL/2019/0042 pending) arising from 
the limit of 290 dwellings set by the outline permission being exceeded by 12 
units. 

 
 
5.0 Representations 
 

Workington Town Council 
 
5.1 No comments received to date. 
 

ABC Environmental Health 
 
5.2 No comments. 
 

Cumbria County Highways/LLFA 
 
5.3 Although the figures proposed on the parking plan (Drawing no 1755-

PL218(A) represents a slight overprovision, we can confirm that it is 
acceptable. The layout shown is acceptable. Of some concern is the link at 
the westerly extremity of the site where the current field access is located. The 
private shared drive seems to dissect this route and does not take it into 
account within its design. This will need to be addresses at sec 38 stage to 
ensure that pedestrians wishing to use this link can do so safely. Another 
matter that will be raised during the sec 38 process is the location / transition 
between asphalt and shared surfacing pavers. We will prefer that surfacing 
around relatively tight bends be asphalt/tarmac to avoid maintenance issues 
to the future. 

           
          The Flood Risk Assessment shows a greenfield run of rate of 72.2l/Sec and 

with attenuation being provided to cater for . 2yr, 30yr, 100yr, 100yr + 40% 
climate change and 100yr + 40%CC with Urban Creep. This is acceptable. 

 
           Cumbria County Council Archaeologist  
 
5.4      No objection to the proposed application, but still consider that the 

archaeological work required by condition 20 on previously approved outline 
permission 2/14/0857 is undertaken and is secured in any new consent that 
may be granted. 

Page 12



 (ABC officers advise that this is not reasonable as an additional requirement 
of any reserved matters approval as condition 20 of the outline secures the 
necessary archaeological work to be undertaken). 

 
           Cumbria Fire Authority 
 
5.5      No objections to this application. It is recommended the inclusion of a 

sprinkler system within the design of the premises.  
 

            Cumbria Public Right of Way Officer 
 

5.6      Public Footpath 262016 follows an alignment to the south east side of the 
development and must not be altered or obstructed before or after the 
development has been completed. If the footpath is to be temporarily 
obstructed then a formal temporary closure will be required; there is a 12 
week lead in time for this process, 

 
Coal Authority 
 

5.7 The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area; 
therefore within the application site and surrounding area there are coal 
mining features and hazards which need to be considered in relation to the 
determination of this planning application. The Coal Authority records indicate 
that, within the planning boundary, there are three recorded mine entries 
(shafts). The Coal Authority was consulted on planning application reference 
2/2014/0857, and Condition 26 of the permission requires site investigations 
to be undertaken prior to the commencement of development to confirm the 
need for remedial works to treat the mine entries and areas of shallow mine 
workings. Conditions 27 and 28 seek to deal with the details of remediation 
and their implementation. On the basis that the layout has been designed 
around the three mine entries, which dictate it, the Coal Authority has no 
objections to the proposed layout and this planning application. The remaining 
coal mining legacy related issues will be required to be addressed as part of a 
discharge of condition application. 

 
Northern Gasworks 
 

5.8 No objections.  
            
          ABC Housing 
 
5.9     The original planning permission was for a 75% / 25% split.  Since the 

introduction of the new NPPF and the adoption of the Local Plan Part 2 this 
has now changed to 50% / 50%.  We are happy for you to discuss the split 
further with Gleeson, and will support a change if required to assist with any 
viability of this site. Our main point is around the house size standards for 
Discounted Sales, which we would want to see these being the same as 
affordable rent properties.  Plus a mixture of 2 and 3b houses rather than just 
2bh. House Standards for rentals need to be in line with the Local Plan Part 2 
requirements for registered housing para 35 of the Local Plan Part 2. Also 

Page 13



consider Policy SA5 Housing Standards M4 - 5% requirement (and consider 
affordables within the mix). There is a proposal in the plan for bungalows, but 
these would be Open Market.  

 
          Natural England 
 
5.10   No comments. Standing advice provided. 
 
         County Minerals and Waste 
 
5.11   No representations received to date. 
 
         Other representations 
 
5.12   Advertised by the local press, on site and adjoining owners notified. 
 
         13 letters/ emails received setting out the following: - 
 

a) In the light of the current economic crisis, I welcome all new projects to 
help unemployed, however concerns regarding the access points; 

 
b)  Ashfield Road is already a hazard due to cars, buses and large wagons 

from local shops and factories all trying to join the main road near the 
Travellers’ Rest, can this junction accommodate a potential 250-500 cars 
at peak times? 

 
c) The access point down Potter’s Meadow is creating a huge risk to local 

children, imagine 400+ cars entering daily. There has been no intention 
from the amended plans to resolve this issue, this development would see 
significant increase in road traffic, not only during development but for 
future residential use, including noise and disturbance to the residents of 
Potter’s Meadow.  

 
d) Potter’s Meadow access is utilised, presently, by 35 houses (to which each 

home has a minimum of 1 vehicle). The road already proves challenging 
for 2 cars to pass due to the narrow nature. Therefore, increased traffic will 
see a huge impact not only on the amount of traffic on the road but also 
damage to the road surface which shall require increased maintenance. 
As a resident of this estate, I highly object to the development/ associated 
through road as this shall directly impact access to my home. 

 
e) The planned through-road leading from Potter’s Meadow into the proposed 

estate does not seem beneficial or viable. Looking at this from any angle 
there seems to be no valid reason as to why the through road is required 
when the homes are from two completely different estates and there is 
already planned a large entrance with roads connecting all homes on the 
new estate from the main road. The through road has no benefit other than 
continue negative impacts to all of the Potter’s Meadow residents. There is 
no consideration to the residents living on Potter’s Meadow in any of these 
plans, original or proposed, since the small, 35 dwelling estate, will 

Page 14



potentially have hundreds of cars using it as a through road who do not 
even reside on the estate. 

 
f) Potter’s Meadow was designed and built as a small, residential cul-de-sac. 

The roads are not designed for heavy traffic, nor are they wide enough. 
Residents of Potter’s Meadow park their cars either side of the pavements 
due to the lack of visitors parking available. The narrow roads that were 
laid to accommodate a small number of houses, and the resident parking 
makes the road unpassable for two cars on opposite sides of the road at 
any given time. This issue is manageable at the moment, due to the small 
number of residents on the estate, however increasing the traffic flow 
through Potter’s Meadow tenfold will cause a serious bottleneck of traffic, 
which may lead to accidents and traffic backing up onto the main road. 
Assuming each home has a minimum between 1 – 2 cars per household, 
this could see between 250 and 500 cars accessing a very small, and very 
quiet cul-de-sac, equating to between seven – fourteen times the amount 
of traffic that is currently exhibited on Potter’s Meadow. Increased traffic 
will see a huge impact not only on the amount of traffic on the road but 
also damage to the road surface which shall require increased 
maintenance. 

 
g) It is evident that there are two storey homes planned to back directly onto 

homes of both Potter’s Meadow and Ellerbeck Road. For both areas the 
proposed land and woodland provides privacy including noise barriers. For 
both estates, and Ellerbeck Road/ Close in particular, the areas are known 
for being secluded and “out of the way” with significant privacy which 
reflects in the housing prices. Addition of the 255 homes directly onto the 
back of the gardens of both estates shall remove this privacy and in turn 
negatively affect the value of the homes. In addition, the proposed homes 
back directly, from two storey heights, on gardens from both estates 
negatively effecting the privacy of the current homes. 

 
h) The main access point to the site is opposite Laybourn Court area, surely 

something needs done with the main road, roundabout etc.... These roads 
are already seeing increased traffic due to the addition of Potter’s Meadow 
in the area, (which is a small 35 house estate), so the addition of 255 
houses will see huge negative impact to people already using the road and 
living in the area. Cars already speed down the Ashfield Road, hence 
numerous speed camera signs. 

 
i) Could an additional access point be created near the Lady Court area? 

There is already a large access point further down the development, and 
seemingly a number of other potential access points throughout the length 
of the site which appear to be better access points. 

 
j) Many children from Potter’s Meadow use the cul-de-sac as a safe playing 

area, where children can play within sight of their own homes. The low 
traffic and cul-de-sac allow children to do so safely. We are putting the 
children of the estate at an increased risk and removing the safe space 
they currently have for playing. 

Page 15



 
k) All areas of Chaucer Road were green fields with a large amount of wild 

life (owls, squirrels etc) also it was a nice place for families to enjoy now 
some of the area has gone due to Potter’s Meadow, now 255 potential 
new homes... what's left?  
 

l) Astounded at the developer’s idea to have the ‘construction compound 
and material storage area’ and the ‘contractors carpark’ directly next to the 
Potters’ Meadow & Ellerbeck Close houses. The development in its 
entirety is huge. I refuse to believe the most appropriate place for the noisy 
and disruptive construction compound and its workers’ car parking is back 
to back with the houses already here. A number of people, due to the 
ongoing global pandemic, are being forced to work from home. When the 
restrictions are eased, it is assumed a number of employees will remain to 
encourage staff to work from home where possible, adapting to the ‘new 
normal’ and blended working approach. The impact a construction site will 
have on many people’s livelihoods and mental health are serious and 
cannot be underestimated. Working from home is a challenge in itself and 
has left many people feeling demotivated and in a depressive state. The 
added stress of people’s houses being next to a construction compound 
for many years, until the estate is finished is unacceptable. People’s work 
meetings and working days will be constantly disrupted by machinery 
noise, which can be avoided by relocating the compound. This is 
unnecessary stress for residents. 

 
m) Due to the sheer size of number of houses planned to be built on the site, 

the scale of the site would mean that there would be no habitat left for the 
wildlife that currently reside there. As much as wildlife studies are carried 
out, from personal experience living in the location, I currently do, the trees 
and fields are home to a vast variety of different species including a high 
number of red squirrels that we see frequently. 

 
n) Previous planning applications were retaining woodland to the rear and 

side of the site, backing onto Ellerbeck Close. There is no mention of 
retaining any of the woods in this application. These woods provide habitat 
for lots of wildlife including red squirrels, owls and an abundance of wild 
birds which are regular visitors to the woods / gardens on Ellerbeck Close. 
Red squirrels and owls are protected. 

 
o) The original report detailed that up to date surveys were required with the 

amended report. Why have the surveys not been completed since this 
seems to be a highly recommended? 

 
p) The report states “although a previous survey concluded red squirrels are 

likely absent from the site, two red squirrels were observed during the 
updated ecological appraisal walkover and a squirrel drey was identified. 
Red squirrel surveying is required between April and August to further 
assess current use”, Has this been conducted prior to the application? I 
personally believe that acceptation of this development plan cannot be 

Page 16



agreed until all the proposed, required, surveying has been conducted on 
the site. 

 
q) The fields leading onto Ellerbeck stream are often filled with dog walkers, 

families and children. The progression of the development means access 
to Ellerbeck will now have to be routed via Ellerbeck Close, placing an 
increased burden on the residents of Ellerbeck Close. 

 
r) Two storey houses will be backing onto the bungalows at Ellerbeck Close, 

previous applications at least offered some privacy by placing bungalows 
backing onto Ellerbeck Close, in addition the retained woods also offered 
some privacy. 

 
s) The site has very poor drainage which floods through the gardens of 

Ellerbeck Close, down into the private road and the surface water then 
enters the private treatment plant. We would like confirmation that the 
surface water will be directed to the river and away from Ellerbeck Close. 
Flooding to the lane behind Ellerbeck Close which is constant since the 
arrival of Potter’s Meadow which is only a small development by 
comparison. This development will have a massive impact on the flooding 
in the area.  

 
t) From the Ecological Appraisal Report it reads that “Eller Beck flows along 

the east boundary of the site. This habitat may be considered to fall under 
UKBAP and LBAP habitat as a river and stream and therefore is of 
national and district importance. It is considered likely that works 
associated within the proposed site have the potential to indirectly 
negatively impact upon the conservation value of this habitat through 
pollution run-off”. Presently, flooding and water increase already runs off 
into the Ellerbeck area. The increase in this shall in turn see increased 
flooding toward these properties presently situated in the area. 

 
u) With the amount of unsold properties on other sites in the area this 

development is not needed especially when we are about to hit a major 
recession and unemployment with numbers of house purchases expected 
to take a massive drop. This development seems to have negatives that 
outweigh the immediate benefits. There are numerous other housing 
developments in the area with similar sized and priced homes which are 
still trying to sell those homes to which I have to question why there is 
such need for this dramatic number of houses when other estates are 
already in place and continuing?  

 
 
6.0     Environmental Impact Assessment 
 

With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017, the proposal (including the adjoining phase 1 
assessed cumulatively with this phase 2 application) is not EIA development 
(it neither falls within Schedule 1 or 2 of the EIA Regulations) 

 

Page 17



 
7.0 Duties 
 
7.1     Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

requires all public bodies to have regard to the requirements of the Habitats 
Directive in the exercise of their functions, particularly when determining a 
planning application for a development which may have an impact on 
European Protected Species ("EPS"), such as bats, great crested newts or 
otters. 

 
           
8.0      Development Plan Policies 
    

Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014  
 
8.1     The following policies are considered to be relevant:- 

 
S1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

S2 – Sustainable development principles 

S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth 

S4 – Design principles 

S5 – Development principles 

S7 – A Mixed and Balanced Housing Market. 

S8 – Affordable Housing 

S21 – Developer Contributions 

S22 – Transport Principles  

S24 – Green Infrastructure  

S27 – Heritage assets 

S33 – Landscape  

S29 – Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage  

S32 – Safeguarding amenity 

S35 – Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity 

S36 – Air, Water and Soil Quality 

DM14 – Standards of Good Design Policy  

 

These policies can be viewed at:- 

 

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-

plan-part-1/ 

 

 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2)  
 

8.2     The following polices are considered relevant:- 
 

SA2 – Settlement Boundaries 
SA3 – Affordable Housing 

Page 18

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/


SA5 – Housing Standards 
SA33 – Broadband 
SA51 – Amenity Green Spaces 

           SA52 – Green Infrastructure 
 
 These policies can be viewed at;- 
 

https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/6d/d7/6dd7b720-
33af-4f67-824e-3d953757d032/local_plan_final.pdf 
 
 

 
9.0      Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 
 
9.1 Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies 

can vary according to their degree consistency with the framework (the closer 
the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given). 

 
          Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) and the Developer Contributions   
          Supplementary Planning Document 
 
9.2 This document is complementary to the Local Plan Part 1 and was the subject 

of consultation and subsequent approval by members. It sets out the Council’s 
approach to securing necessary contribution via s106 agreements where 
necessary to make the development acceptable and where reasonable to do 
so. 

 
 
10.0 Policy weighting 
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that, if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 1) July 2014 
and Allerdale Local Plan (Part 2) July 2020 have primacy. Members are 
advised that the decision should be made in accordance with the development 
plan with no material considerations, such as the NPPF, being afforded 
sufficient weight or reducing the weight of the Plan to such an extent that a 
decision contrary to it could be made. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/6d/d7/6dd7b720-33af-4f67-824e-3d953757d032/local_plan_final.pdf
https://www-cloudfront.allerdale.gov.uk/media/filer_public/6d/d7/6dd7b720-33af-4f67-824e-3d953757d032/local_plan_final.pdf


11.0 Assessment 
 

Principle of development 
 
11.1 The principle of development is not for consideration. There is an outline 

permission in place (2/2014/0857) for up to 290 dwellings and this application 
is for reserved matters pursuant to that application for phase 2 with a scheme 
for 220 residential units. The application is within the parameters of the outline 
permission. The representations relating to the principle and scale of the 
development cannot be considered. Similarly, some of the matters raised by 
consultees are largely relevant only to other conditions of the outline 
permission, such as the highway access arrangements and the surface water 
technical details. Such matters shall be addressed through the separate 
procedures for discharging these conditions but are taken account of in the 
broader layout of the scheme. The relevance to this reserved matters 
application is limited to ensuring that, for example, the layout avoids the areas 
identified as mine shafts, a surface water drainage scheme can be 
accommodated within the layout and that the layout provides appropriate 
highway arrangements as specified in the outline approval. 

 
11.2 Given the access to the main road and the secondary access onto phase 1 

(now Potter’s Meadow) was considered under the outline approval the 
concerns raised by residents in relation to highway impact on Ashfield Road 
South and Potter’s Meadow are not material to the determination of the 
reserved matters under consideration here. 

 
          Layout and Scale – Density  
 
11.3    Policies S2 and DM14 of the Local Plan (Part 1) require development to make 

the most efficient use of land and build at an appropriate density and layout 
according to local setting and character. Policy SA20 of the Local plan (Part 2) 
suggests a scale of 20 to 25 dwelling per hectare. However, policy S4 of the 
Local Plan (part 1) states that developments must optimise the potential of the 
site by ensuring appropriate density and mass of development. Policy DM14 
states that housing density will be considered on a site by site basis and 
informed by local context of the area in terms of design considerations, 
historic or environmental integration, or identified local need.  

 
11.4 The proposed scale ensures there is a density level that is reflective of this 

suburban edge of settlement location of Workington, circa 24 dwellings per 
hectare on this 9.24 hectare site, thus making an efficient use of land whilst 
addressing the onsite constraints to include the avoidance of coal mining 
shafts, the provision of public open spaces and the retention of screening 
trees, whilst providing a significant SUDS basin. 

 
 Layout and Scale – Levels  
 
11.5  As required by condition 4 of the outline permission, cross sections of the 

site, detailing the existing and proposed ground levels, proposed finished floor 
levels of the buildings, levels of paths, drives, garages and parking areas have 

Page 20



been provided. Level access has been provided to all front doors through the 
careful layout arrangement of dwellings and elements of cut and fill that 
alleviate the issues of the sloping site. This is a success of the layout given 
the topographical constraints.  

 
 Layout and Scale – Housing Type Mix  
 
11.6 The mix of dwellings in the development positively responds to the identified 

local housing needs. The dwellings proposed are a varied and complementary 
mix of two storey and single storey house types including 2, 3 and 4 bedroom 
accommodation and all benefit from an acceptable private amenity space 
within each residential curtilage. 

 
 Layout and Scale – Tenure Mix 
 
11.7    Policy S8 of the Local Plan Part 1 requires major residential developments to 

provide 20% Affordable Homes within the Principal Service Centre of 
Workington, also the recently adopted Local Plan Part 2 policy SA3 identifies 
the site as within Zone B which requires a 20% requirement of affordable 
housing. The outline approval only required 15% of the dwellings to be 
affordable (as defined by the NPPF) as per the section 106 legal agreement. 

 
11.8 Policy S8 of the Local Plan Part 1 requires a tenure split of 75% rental and 

25% intermediate affordable housing. However, the NPPF 2019 sets out, in 
paragraph 64, that major development should expect at least 10% of the 
housing to be available for affordable home ownership as part of the overall 
housing contribution for the whole site. The 38 affordable units proposed 
meets the overall 15% requirement as approved in the outline decision. The 
layout accommodates house types and tenure that reflect the requirements of 
the outline planning approval in number terms but, in terms of tenure type, 
now provides a 50% split for rent/ affordable low cost housing arrangements 
for sale to accord with policy SA3 of Part of the Local Plan (19 units rent and 
19 intermediate housing for sale). This is not in accordance with the s106 and 
will necessitate a deed of variation but this is not matter to be considered as 
part of this application.  

 
11.9 The type and tenure also satisfactorily addresses the housing need in the 

locality of Workington and accords with the Council requirement for the 
provision of affordable housing to be in clusters throughout the development 
indistinguishable from open market dwellings.  

 
 Layout and Scale – National Space Standards  
 
11.10 It is noted that the site layout plan generally does not provide dwelling types 

that meet the optional national space standards (not set out in the Local plan 
as a policy requirement but usually a requirement of registered social 
landlords for their rental housing provision). It is noted that the Council’s 
Housing Manager would like the national space standards reflected in the low 
cost homes for sale. However, this is not provided as part of the Gleeson 
business model standard. The majority of homes are not space standard 

Page 21



compliant but the developer contends that the dwellings offered provides a 
variety of house sizes to suit different markets. It is suggested that its focus as 
a house builder is enabling local people on the housing ladder as first time 
buyers and to increase the square footage of dwellings offered to comply with 
national space standards would prevent first time buyers and key workers 
from getting on the housing ladder.  

 
11.11 Members are advised that there is a balance to be made here, specifically 

with regards to dwelling space standards, retention of trees and provision of 
new soft landscaping, the provision of adequate off street parking that doesn’t 
dominate the streetscene, the securing of a sustainable surface water 
drainage system and a viable (and therefore deliverable) scheme. 

 
11.12 The number of dwellings specified in the outline permission is not a maximum 

and there is no policy that requires such a number to be provided on site; 
matters such as landscaping, character and the need to accommodate 
parking and drainage must be considered. However, weight is afforded to the 
quantum of houses proposed; the greater the number of dwellings, particularly 
those that are affordable, the greater the benefits accrued from the 
development. Furthermore, a development must be viable to make it 
deliverable (assuming no external funding is provided to assist the maths). In 
this context, there are compromises.  

 
11.13 For this application, significant weight is afforded to the delivery of so many 

dwellings pursuant to the outline permission. Similar weight is also afforded to 
the extent of retained soft landscaping (see paragraphs 11.19 & 11.31) and 
that proposed. The scheme also successfully assimilates extensive off street 
parking into the layout (see paragraph 11.22) without it becoming dominant; a 
fault of many other developments. As such there is considerable merit in the 
proposal and this weighs heavily in favour of the proposed layout overall, such 
weight overriding the shortfall against space standards. Members are 
reminded that proposals are considered against the development plan as a 
whole and there need not be compliance with all policies; it is a matter of 
weighting and balance. 

 
 Layout and Scale – Accessibility (Enhanced Part M Building 

Regulations) 
 
11.14 It is noted the scheme does comply with policy SA5 of the Local Plan Part 2 to 

the extent that, for developments of 10 units or more, 20% of the dwellings 
must be designed and constructed to meet the requirements set out in 
optional Building Requirement M4(2). The Type 454 house (18 units), the 
Type 350 house - 3 bed semi (17 units) and the Type 360 house - 3 bed semi 
type (29 units) are M4(2) compliant and represent 29% of the dwellings 
provided in accordance with Policy SA5.  

 
11.15  Policy SA5 also advises that residential developments over 30 units must 

ensure that 5% of the total units (across both market and affordable dwellings) 
should be designed and constructed to meet optional Building Requirement 
M4(3) ensuring that the dwellings are wheelchair adaptable. None of the 

Page 22



house types are M4(3) compliant. The developer concedes the homes are 
specifically designed with the aim to provide low cost home ownership. It is 
stated that, on average, 80% of their customers are first time buyers and to 
achieve this they propose to maintain an efficient build cost which is critical to 
their business model and unfortunately this makes additional optional 
increases in design standards required to reach M4(3) incompatible.  

 
11.16 The developer advises in order to provide an additional range of houses that 

are M4(3) compliant or to tweak plots to enable them to be M4(3) compatible, 
would increase the build cost. The increased costs would have to be passed 
on to customers, whilst the business model is trying to provide housing to 
enable people onto the housing ladder and that their typical first time buyers 
will not see any added value in the required adaptations. It is acknowledged 
that Policy SA5 states in relation to the M4(2) and M4(3) requirements ‘the 
Council will take a flexible approach to these requirements where the 
applicant can demonstrate that it would significantly harm the financial viability 
of the scheme.’ No viability appraisal has been submitted but officers are of 
the opinion that the developer’s assertion is reasonable.  

 
11.17 This is another matter where there is policy discordance but the merits of the 

scheme in other areas outweigh that failure to comply with one part of policy 
SA5. Upon balance, the scheme can be supported with the lack of M4(3) 
compliant homes.  

 
 Layout and Landscaping – Character, Legibility and Visual Amenity  
 
11.18 The site characteristics have informed the layout. It is a large site and will be 

developed in phases. The site falls from northeast to southwest. The 
orientation and siting of dwellings within the layout, the provision of cross-
sections and details of FFL, garden levels and careful boundary treatments 
have taken account of the sloping nature of the site and have demonstrated 
there will adequate separation distances between dwellings. There will not be 
overlooking, over shadowing or adverse visual impacts in terms of residential 
amenity or on the streetscape. Some gardens will be sloping to reduce the 
need for higher retaining walls. 

 
11.19 The proposed road hierarchy provides for an accessible and permeable 

development. The layout encourages consistent movement, maintains 
connections with the surrounding landscape and provides a sense of place 
and ownership. All roads have been designed to support appropriate speeds 
in a residential area. From the main access from Ashfield Road South the 
roads follows a hierarchy of branching roads that link to streets, cul-de-sacs 
and private and shared drives via the proposed new access routes. The layout 
in places has attempted to follow the ‘Manual for Streets’ approach. This 
seeks to pull away just from a layout adhering to a series of road dimensions 
that are set by vehicular movement, to a process that also considers the area 
between the public facades of dwellings as a street (for living, for pedestrian 
movement etc.); providing attractive, safe and overlooked streetscapes.  

 

Page 23



11.20 The results, in this instance, are largely successful and there are a number of 
interesting, overlooked shared public open spaces that add to the character of 
the street scenes. Pedestrian and cycle routes cross the site.  

 
11.21 The layout has a suburban feel but is sensitive to green tree corridors that 

flank Ashfield Road and to the south of the site bordering Ellerbeck. The 
variations in streetscenes are welcomed as is the use of dwellings designed 
for corner plots with dual aspects at key locations. There are also key 
frontages that maximise passive surveillance of streetscapes particularly over 
the areas adjacent to footways/ cycleways and areas of public open space. 
Use of buffer planting to delineate the difference between public and private 
realms is also a positive attribute.  

 
11.22 Garages are either integral or detached. There are a range of in curtilage car 

parking solutions. Car parking will also be sited alongside dwellings; in order 
to limit the visual impacts of car parking to the frontages and this will reduce 
clutter on the street scene and maximise the visual benefits of the dwellings 
being set back from the road with landscaped front gardens and frontage 
trees. 

 
 Layout – Highway safety and parking  
 
11.23 The consideration of the proposed layout against policy S22 of the Local Plan 

Part 1 is informed by the Cumbria Development Design Guide. The guidance 
provides a suggested level of parking for housing developments and advises 
that two bedroom homes (33 number) should provide 2 spaces = 66, three 
and four bedroom houses (187) should provide 2.5 parking spaces = 467.5 
and that 1 visitor space should be provided for every 5 Dwellings = 44. In total 
this requires 533.5 spaces private spaces. The proposed layout provides 545 
spaces within the residential curtilage and a further 45 visitor spaces and this 
includes none of the proposed external or integral garages which can all be 
used for parking of motorbikes or cycle storage. The parking arrangements 
are therefore acceptable and policy compliant. 

 
 Layout and Landscaping - Drainage 
 
11.24 Policy S29 of the Local Plan Part 1 applies, the proposal being assessed as to 

whether it responds to the surface water drainage hierarchy cited in that policy 
(infiltration or water reuse as a priority, then drainage to a watercourse and 
drainage to a sewer as a last resort). There is also the need to ensure no 
increase in flooding on and off-site taking into account 1 in 100 rainfall events 
and a 30% allowance for climate change. 

 
11.25 The use of infiltration methods for the disposal of surface water has been 

considered and is not deemed feasible due to the likely presence of stiff 
glacial till. It is therefore proposed surface water will discharge into the 
existing watercourse to the south west of the site, The Ellerbeck. The 
detention basin is designed as a dual-purpose area for amenity and drainage. 
The flow rate is not restricted prior to entering the detention basin area but the 
flow is restricted to greenfield run off prior to leaving the site. The flow is to be 

Page 24



restricted by a hydro brake. Source control of pollutants in high risk areas will 
be provided by filter drains at shared driveways. Outfall locations and the 
swale are shown on drawing 2014-D202 Flood Routing Plan Rev 1. The swale 
will hold surface water following periods of increased rainfall and ensure that 
discharge to the Ellerbeck is throttled to the maximum 7 l/s rate per hectare. 
The drainage layout accords with policy S29 of the Local Plan Part 1.  

 
11.26 Foul water from the development site is proposed to discharge at 10.83 

litres/second into existing public combined water sewer Ashfield Road South 
to the north the site. Due to the level difference between the road and the site 
a pumping station will be required at the southern edge of the site. 

 
           Scale and Appearance – Dwelling design response to context 
 
11.27 The 2, 3 and 4 bedroom dwellings, either detached, semi-detached, linked or 

of single storey type are of a suitable scale for this locality. Attention has been 
given to the sloping land levels to ensure that dwellings do not cause an over 
dominance to neighbouring properties as required under policy S32 to 
address matters of visual amenity, loss of light and overlooking.  

 
11.28 Proposed dwellings to the north of Ellerbeck Close will be single storey to 

reduce the visual impact and ensure no significant loss of amenity arising from 
overlooking and loss of light. Details have been provided that demonstrate 
how gardens will slope to minimise sheer retaining walls. In doing so, in 
combination with appropriate separation distances, the detailed plans 
demonstrate how there will not be inappropriate levels of overlooking or 
overshadowing of neighbouring dwellings and their private gardens. 

 
11.29 The dwellings are simply detailed with red or a yellowish buff facing brick. 

Some plots also have rendered dwellings. Front doors and garage doors are 
in GRP and will be coloured. Window frames and fascia boards are in white 
and gutters, rainwater pipes and soil stacks are in black PVCu. There is little, 
if any vernacular detailing or indeed use of local materials, but this is not an 
area of traditional architecture. Ellerbeck Close to the south is characterised 
by an eclectic mix of larger detached dwellings of varying styles. Phase 1 is 
different again; a planned estate of gabled dwellings faced in reconstituted 
stone. Red brick predominates immediately to the north of Ashfield Road 
South. Again, these late twentieth century dwellings, aligned in longer 
staggered terraces and with simple landscape windows, offer a context that 
provides an opportunity to deviate away from the traditional vernacular. 

 
11.30 The overall grain of the proposal’s appearance is one of inoffensive, modest, 

simple gabled designs. The result is acceptable. 
            
           Landscaping – Tree retention  
 
11.31 The site is set on the edge of attractive open countryside which surrounds the 

eastern fringe of Workington. The existing buffer landscaping was probably 
planted around 30 – 40 years ago and it seems to have thrived, although the 
woodland is now very dense because it has not been managed, thinned or 

Page 25



coppiced at any point in its life and provides a uniformly dense screen along 
much of the site edge. The northern boundary is comprised of mature existing 
woodland and the proposal has sought to retain these areas as far as possible 
in order to preserve the existing ecology whilst providing visual and acoustic 
screening from Ashfield Road. Further portions of existing trees have been 
retained on the site perimeter to provide visual screening. 

 
11.32  The landscaping scheme for the development has sought to create an 

attractive and safe environment for users and visitors to the development. 
There will be planting throughout the development. Policy DM17 of the Local 
Plan Part 1 sets out that, where existing trees, hedgerows and woodland are 
considered important to the local community, contribute positively to the 
character of the area and/or are of nature conservation value, they will be 
protected. Proposals that involve felling, removal or are considered likely to 
cause demonstrable harm to existing trees, hedgerows and woodland will 
normally be resisted, unless acceptable mitigation or compensation measures 
can be secured. Felling and/or removal may be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances where it can be demonstrated that the economic viability of the 
development is prejudiced and there are proposed wider benefits that 
outweigh the loss incurred. However, where a development poses significant 
harm to an irreplaceable habitat which cannot be mitigated or compensated 
for, permission will be refused.  

 
11.33 In this scheme it is considered the replacement planting maintains local 

amenity, the character of the area and the nature conservation interest and 
the benefit of the provision of 220 dwellings is given substantial weight.  

 
11.34 The dense heart of the woodland will be cleared as was envisaged at outline 

stage (2014/0857) but a sufficient area has been retained to act as an 
effective wildlife corridor along Ashfield Road South as well as providing a 
visual and acoustic screen from the road to the proposed dwellings behind. 
The screen is largely made up of native broadleaved species so it will provide 
a varied setting for the housing throughout the seasons.  

 

11.35   All of the new houses will be provided with gardens to the front and the rear. 
These are generally quite generous in size and some are irregularly shaped 
with slight sloping gardens on some plots to compensate for the levels on site. 
These gardens will be grassed in preparation for landscaping by their owners, 
with front gardens providing a small amount of shrub planting and key location 
/ corner plots receiving larger treatments and tree planting. Landscaped areas 
will be provided along key routes, whether in curtilage to adjacent dwellings or 
communal areas, to provide visual and ecological enhancement. Areas of 
public open space are also landscaped and are provided within the vicinity of 
the former mine shafts. This is a strategy that, combined with the retained 
trees, provides an appropriate transitional zone between the harder built forms 
of the suburbia to the north and the agrarian landscape beyond the Ellerbeck 
to the south.  

 

11.36 To promote further enhancement and provide local ecological features to the 
development, public open space will be provided in pockets and linear 

Page 26



pathways through the development. This includes the space around the newly 
proposed swale and welcome and beneficial linkages to the public right of way 
network. An updated Ecological Report has been provided to address the tree 
loss and any important habitat and species that maybe affected by the 
proposal.  To accommodate the swale, there is tree loss to the south western 
corner of the site but this is designed to maximise its biodiversity value. The 
applicant has provided updated tree and ecology reports with mitigation put 
forward to protect species and habitats and these details are required to 
discharge of planning conditions secured at the outline stage. It is noted the 
amended Landscape Plan removes the formal play area from the south 
woodland strip to provide for an area of more informal play which has greater 
compatibility with the woodland area.  

 

11.37 The fundamental and central arboricultural impact is the direct requirement for 
tree removal as a result of swale construction.  There is an additional loss of a 
strip of trees from the western edge of G3 by approximately 10m. There is the 
also the additional loss of all trees in G4 that are currently located between G3 
and the existing electrical distribution infrastructure running through the centre 
of G4.In addition to the direct impact of the swale requiring tree removal there 
is also the potential for subsequent tree failure from the groups 3 and 4 due to 
altered exposure.  

 
11.38 The trees growing within the groups affected have been planted at similar 

times and are growing as continuous groups and therefore exposure of a new 
edge can lead to subsequent tree failure. However, the tree species are 
mainly broadleaf and not coniferous species that are generally considered to 
fail following altered exposure; the tree age is young and the growth patterns 
have time to adapt to the newly formed edge; the woodland structure is varied 
and high canopy (Oak and Ash) and intermediate (mountain ash) and lower 
canopies all contain tree species that form structure and reduce direct wind 
loading on the tree group.  

 
11.39 Measures to maintain acceptable health and safety of retained trees during 

construction and post development can be secured through the discharge of 
planning condition 16 as part of the construction management plan. 

 
 Landscaping – Public Open Space  
 
11.40 Formal Public Open Space (POS) has been added throughout the 

development and, where space permits, playgrounds have been provided 
Areas include:  

 
a) POS A the retained woodland to the north of the site (3,812 m2);  
b) POS B (2,054m2) comprising a play area which is bound by pedestrian 

footways and is overlooked by dwellings to the south and west; 
c)  POS C a further area of linear woodland adjacent to Ashfield Road South 

(1,431m2);  
d) POS D a pocket green space of (210m2) to soften the south east 

boundary between phase 2 and Potters Meadow;  

Page 27



e) POS E a small corner landscaped area within the centre of the housing 
estate (75m2); 

f)  POS F a further play area which is overlooked by dwellings on all sides 
and comprises (1,119m2); and 

g)  POS G which is retained woodland adjacent to Ellerbeck to the south of 
the site and will provide a woodland trail. The POS and retained woodland 
provides positive landscaping features throughout the development. 

 

Landscaping – Ecology  
 

11.41  The landscaping scheme has had to address matters raised in the submitted 
ecology reports relating to bats, birds and tree loss. Policy S35 sets out 
conditions for biodiversity will be maintained and improved and important 
geodiversity assets will be protected. A high priority is also given to the 
protection of locally identified biodiversity or ecologically valuable assets. 
Approximately 6 ha of species poor semi improved rough grassland will be 
removed to accommodate the majority of the 220 units and associated 
parking. Approximately 0.7 ha of semi natural mixed woodland at the south 
west corner of the site will be removed to accommodate the swale. The site 
was approved as a housing site in 2014 and the loss of some of these 
features was expected to accommodate a total of up to 290 homes. The 
protection of important species and habitats including Ellerbeck during 
construction will be addressed in the Construction Management Plan (also 
informed by the mitigation measures addressed in the Ecology reports) that 
are assessed under the discharge of planning conditions associated with the 
outline approval in 2014. 

 
11.42 Policies S2, S35 and S36 seeks to promote sustainable development whilst 

protecting and enhancing biodiversity assets and water quality within the Plan 
area. To address protected species and habitats additional tree and ecology 
report were undertaken. Additional bat roost assessments have been received 
in addition to the ecology reports provided at the outline stage. The purpose of 
this report was to establish the potential of the trees to offer shelter and / or 
roost facilities to protected species. The report assessed a range of factors 
including absence/presence of protected species, species affected, population 
numbers, potential access points, types of roost and their seasonality of use in 
buildings and trees affected by development. No field signs (animals, 
droppings, feeding remains, urine or fur staining, audible squeaking) were 
found to be present and no habitat was found that is considered to be suitable 
for bat roosting or shelter. A 2019 bat roost assessment of trees within the site 
concluded that ‘No low, moderate or high potential bat roost features were 
found’.  

 
11.43 To evaluate and update the 2019 survey report all trees of a suitable age to 

contain potential roost features were re assessed during a ground level roost 
assessment. The preliminary roost assessment survey agrees with the 2019 
bat survey report. The potential of trees on the site had not improved since the 
2019 report. Trees 1 and 2 (see Bat Roost Assessment - Preliminary Roost 
Feature (PRF) Inspections in Trees – 30/09/2019) did have potential roost 
features although it was found that on close inspection these potential 

Page 28



roosting sites were negligible. This appeared correct when assessing the 
features from the ground. No buildings were present on site. 

 

 

11.44 The phase 1 survey was extended to include a walk over of woodland habitat 
for red squirrels (Sciurus vulgaris). Red squirrels are known in the general 
area although previous red squirrel targeted surveying in 2014 documented 
likely absence of squirrels (and dreys) at the site. Two red squirrels were 
observed at the east boundary plantation woodland and at a crossing point at 
Eller Beck. A probable squirrel drey was present in a scots pine within the 
plantation broadleaved woodland next to Eller Beck. Time was spent 
observing if squirrel activity was occurring at this drey. No squirrels were 
observed at or near to this drey. Further surveying is required to assess 
current use. There is a requirement for tree loss to the south western quadrant 
of the site to accommodate the swale, however before trees are removed 
there will be careful inspection of trees to ensure that wildlife is protected and 
resited if required. This is secured by the outline planning permission 
condition relating to ecology mitigation. 

 
11.45 There was no evidence of badger setts documented within the site. No 

mammal tracks were documented. Although no nesting birds (or abandoned 
nests) were found a precautionary breeding bird survey would be required in 
the active breeding bird season (March to October) to check for breeding birds 
prior to commencement. Mitigation with regard to protected species is again 
secured in the outline scheme 2/2014/0857 that is secured by planning 
condition.  

 
Neighbour Consultation responses 

 
11.46   Matters of access, ecology and drainage are already covered in this report. 

The location of the construction and delivery compound is not part of this 
reserved matters application but shall be assessed in the discharge of 
planning condition 17 of 2/2014/0857 and neighbour concerns regarding 
nuisance will be addressed with the developer.  

 
 
12.0   Balance and Conclusions  
 
 12.1  The scheme has satisfactorily addressed matters relating to the reserved 

matters of layout, landscaping, appearance and scale. There are constraints 
within this phase 2 including physical features such as the mine shafts as well 
as policy/ outline permission requirements to provide play areas, address 
areas of flood risk and the need to retain boundary buffer trees for matters of 
ecology and landscaping. That said, a significant amount of central tree 
plantation will be removed, but this is necessary to provide the number of 
dwellings to deem the development viable and ensure an appropriate, policy 
compliant mix. Furthermore, the indicative proposals at the outline stage 
assumed this loss and a satisfactory, compensatory tree replanting 
landscaping scheme is proposed.  

Page 29



12.2 Overall, notwithstanding the tree loss and the discordance with policy in 
relation to M4(3) accessibility and the lack of compliance with national space 
standards (not a development plan policy), there is considerable merit in the 
proposal and policy compliance and this weighs heavily in favour of the 
proposal.  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
Approval of reserved matters subject to conditions  

 

 

Page 30



Annex 1 

CONDITIONS 
 
In accordance  
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in 
accordance with the following plans: 

 
o 1755 - PL 100 Location Plan  
o 1755 - Design and Access Statement Jan 2021 
o 1755 - PL 214 (C) Site layout plan as proposed 
o Landscape Plan Rev B 1.02.21 
o 1755 - PL 214 (B) Build Route 
o 1755 – PL215 (A) Boundaries and enclosures 
o 1755 – PL 216 (B) Affordable housing plan and proposed 19.2.21 
o 1755 - PL 217 (A) Public open space (Except POS G play area) 
o 1755 – PL 218 (A) Parking and layout as proposed 
o 1755-PL510 A Street Elevations as proposed 19.2.21 
o 1755 – PL 219 (A) Service plan as proposed 
o 20104 – D001 Overall engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – D002 Engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – D003 Engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – D004 Engineering layout Rev 2 
o 20104 – Direct Cut and Fill D600 Rev 1 Manhole schedules Rev 2 
o 20104 – D201 Typical SUDs details Rev 1 
o 20104 – D202 – Flood routing plan 
o 20104 – D300 Road long sections Rev 2 
o 20104 – D301 Road long sections Rev 1 
o 20104 – D302 Road long sections Rev 1 
o 20104 – Direct cut and fill  D600 Rev 1 
o 20104 – Direct cut and fill D600 Rev 2 
o 20104 – D700 Road construction Rev 1 
o 20104 – D701 Drainage detail Rev 1 
o SHE – 0338 -7220-1500-7220 Hydrobreak 
o SHE – 0338-7220-1500-7220 Hydraulic charctersitics 
o Brick Swatches number 

 
House Types 

 
o 201 – rural elevation plan 13/201 –B Rev A 
o 201 Floor plans 
o 254 01 Planning layout - 2 bedroom bungalow 
o 301 Floor plans -301 G – 3 bedroom dwelling 
o 301 (AG) – 8 Rural 13 Elevations 13/301 – 8 Rev E Type 301 
o 302 (AB) – 9 Rural 13 Elevations 13/302 – 9 Rev E Type 302 
o 3022 s(G) planning – floor plans 302/ 1G (3 bedroom dwelling) 
o 303 floor plans 303 dwelling type 303 1/E 
o 303 (AE) 9 Rural 13 elevations 13/303 -9 Rev F 
o 314 Rural dwg 443/220 

Page 31



o 337 floor plans 
o 337 (A) 10 Rural 13 Elevations 13/337 – 10 Rev A 
o 340 Floor plans 340/1 dwelling type 340 dwelling type 
o 340 -341 (A) – 10 Rural 13 Elevations 13/340 -10 Rev 
o 350 – Elevations (Rural) 13/350 - 8 Rev B 
o 350 Floor plans 350 dwelling type 350/1 A 
o House type 353 Elevations Rural 13/353 09 Rev A 
o House type 353 Floor plans 353/1A 
o 360 Elevations (Rural) type 360 Elevations (Rural)13 13/360 – 9 
Rev A 
o 360 Floor Plans 360/1B 
o 401 Floor Plans - 401 dwelling type 401/1G 
o 401 (T) 9 Rural 13 Elevations 13/401 -9 Rev C 
o 403 Rural ElevationsType 403 Rural Elevations (Rural)13 13/403 – 
9 Rev C 
o 403 Floor plans 403 dwelling type 403/1H 
o 435 Floor plans 435/1A 
o 435 Rural Elevations Type 435 13/435 -9 Rev A 
o 454 Planning drawing 454/1A 

 
 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory means of surface water drainage and minimise 
the risk of flooding from the development in comparison to an assessment of its 
existing undeveloped state, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, Policies S29 and S2 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 
2014. 

 
 
         

  

Page 32



 

Page 33



 

Page 34



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application FUL/2020/0212 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: FUL/2020/0212 

Valid Date: 5 October 2020 

Location: Siddick Overbridge, Siddick, Workington, 
 

Applicant: Mr Michael Gradwell, Network Rail 
 

Proposal: Reconstruction of existing highway bridge, 
construction of new footbridge, realignment of existing 
footway and associated works including a Temporary 
Vehicle Level Crossing, haul road and vehicle waiting 
area to enable the highways diversion during the 
highways bridge works 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION               Grant permission subject to conditions. 

 

1.0         Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Economic benefits The economic benefits of the proposal, 
securing a viable, safe and improved multi-
modal access to the port, are afforded 
substantial weight as the scheme enables 
the access arrangements to the port.  

Landscape and Visual Impacts The landscape and visual amenity impacts 
are acceptable given the scheme replaces 
an existing bridge and that the temporary 
haul road is temporary and the land 
affected by that element will be restored to 
its current condition.  

Design Acceptable design and materials are 
proposed.  

 

Ecology The application has been supported by an 
Ecological Appraisal which has considered 
the impact following the sequential 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



approach of avoidance, mitigation and 
compensation of protected habitats / 
species to include grassland features and 
blue butterfly habitats. Whilst habitat 
avoidance is not possible, appropriate 
mitigation has been agreed and can be 
secured by condition. This principally 
relates to the impact of the temporary haul 
road.  

Heritage No harm considered to designated and 
non-designated assets.  

Highways 

 

No comments received from Cumbria 
Highways. 

 

2.0      Proposal 
 
2.1 The proposal relates to works to Overbridge 39 commonly known as Siddick 

Bridge at the Port of Workington. The existing bridge is owned by Network Rail 
and requires replacement. A weight restriction and reduction to a single lane has 
been imposed on the bridge due to its condition.  This structure is currently the 
only vehicular access over the railway providing access to the Port of 
Workington. The improved bridge access supports major infrastructure 
regeneration and the implementation of new and highly improved services. 
Specifically, the development will facilitate the port’s development into a 
significant container and logistics hub for the UK’s North West region 

 
2.2 The scheme involves works to replacement of the bridge span, repairs to the 

existing abutments and the installation of a new steel pedestrian bridge adjacent 
to existing structure. The works will be carried out in three phases: 

 
a) Installation of pedestrian bridge to facilitate the foot access and service 

diversions; 
 
b) Provision of temporary haul road. 

 
c) Deconstruction and installation of the Highway Structure. 

 
Members are advised that the application is now part retrospective insofar as the 
pedestrian bridge has already been completed ahead of the application’s 
determination.  

 
2.3 A traffic management plan is proposed to demonstrate how access to the Port of 

Workington will be maintained during the planned road closure whilst the 
vehicular bridge span is being replaced. A road closure is intended from 22 April 
2021 until 07 June 2021. Access across the railway will be enabled through the 
provision of a Temporary Vehicular Level Crossing to the north of the existing 

Page 36



bridge. The route of the temporary access has been amended twice during the 
processing of the application. Some comments in section 5 of this report explicitly 
refer to the amended scheme under consideration, some relate to other 
iterations. The scheme utilises land owned by Allerdale Borough Council west of 
the railway line and by a third party land owner to the east (between the railway 
and the A596 and formerly occupied by the temporary Tesco store following the 
floods in 2009). 

 
2.4 The plans for consideration relate to: 
 

o 7561070 Rev B Site Location Plan 
o Existing and general arrangements 139337-MMD-00-XX-DR-C-1001 REV 

P02 
o Preliminary Ecological Appraisal September 2020 
o Bat Survey at Siddick Bridge (envirotech) 
o CBC2 39 Siddick Bridge Traffic Management Plan 11/02/21 

 
The plans and particulars can be viewed at:- 
 
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DNonUAG/ful20200212 
 

 
3.0 Site  
 
3.1 The site of the bridge to be replaced is approximately 200m west of the Northside 

roundabout. 
 
3.2 The wider site comprises an area of open grassland to the northwest of the 

overbridge proposed for use as a compound and a small area to the northeast of 
the overbridge as a temporary access road. Surrounding habitats include 
broadleaved woodland and a windfarm to the west, broadleaved woodland and a 
speedway training track to the north, commercial development and the A596 to 
the east, and sewage pumping facilities to the south. The wider landscape 
includes the Derwent estuary, the Port of Workington, coast and built 
development. 
 

3.3 The development proposal will require temporary access land to the north west 
of the bridge structure to facilitate the build and a construction compound 100m x 
100m to allow for site welfare and parking. 
 

3.4      The site lies in Flood Zone 1. 
 

 
4.0 Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1 The existing bridge dates from prior to the commencement of the planning 

system and is presumably Victorian in origin. However, a public right of way 
needs diverting to enable this development to proceed. The Order for the 
diversion under s257 of the Planning Act only affects a very short length of the 

Page 37

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DNonUAG/ful20200212
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DNonUAG/ful20200212


footpath. The application to divert the public right of way is being considered by 
this Council. It is likely that the Order to divert the path would have been “made” 
by the time members are considering this application. The Order cannot be 
“confirmed” until this planning permission is granted (and statutory publicity 
undertaken).  

 
4.2 Details of the application for the diversion (our ref FOOT/2020/0001) can be 

found here;- 
  

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-
application/a3X3X000004DNpiUAG/foot20200001 

 
4.3     Of note in the vicinity of the site are;- 
 

a) 2/2008/0495 Construction of a cycle link joining the existing 'Northside' 
and 'Cloffocks cycleways; 

b) CON1/2008/0495 Compliance with Conditions 2 & 4 of planning approval 
2/2008/0495; 

c) SCR/2009/0005 Screening opinion request for proposed mixed use 
development. 
 
 

5.0 Representations 
 

Workington Parish Council  
 

5.1      No comments received to date. 
 
ABC Environmental Health 
 

5.2      No comment. 
 

Cumbria Highways 
 

5.3      No comments received. 
 
Natural England 
 

5.4 No comments received.  
 

CCC Public Rights of Way Officer 
 

5.5      PROW 262029 must not be altered or obstructed before or after development. 
 

County Resilience Officer 
 

5.6 No response received to date.  
 
 
 

Page 38

https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DNpiUAG/foot20200001
https://allerdalebc.force.com/pr/s/planning-application/a3X3X000004DNpiUAG/foot20200001


Cumbria Constabulary 
 

5.7 No response received to date.  
 
Butterfly Conservation Trust (Cumbria representative) 
 

5.8 No objections to amended scheme. The route of the Temporary Haul Road now 
thankfully avoids the extremely important created, restored and managed wildlife 
habitat to the north. It will still traverse a section of unimproved grassland but for 
the greater good the route now proposed should go ahead. When the work is 
complete and the affected habitat is restored along with the temporary works 
compound I request that both Butterfly Conservation Cumbria and Cumbria 
WildlifeTrust (who were also objectors) are consulted so that both can have an 
input into how the habitat can be restored most effectively. This will also bear in 
mind Allerdale’s own intentions for this area regarding longer term use and the 
present unauthorised use of off road vehicles.  
 
Cumbria Wildlife Trust  
 

5.9 As outlined in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Sep 2020), construction of 
the temporary access route is likely to lead to the destruction of unimproved 
grassland. This is not acceptable as this habitat is listed (UKHAB G3a lowland 
meadow) as a priority for conservation under Section 41 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act and in the Cumbria Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan. The adjacent Oldside CWS is also one of the restoration 
sites for the Heritage Lottery funded Get Cumbria Buzzing project.  
 

5.10 Along with others such as Butterfly Conservation and Workington Nature 
Partnership, Allerdale Borough Council is a partner organisation on this project 
and is committed to the restoration of flower-rich habitat for pollinators and a 10 
year post restoration management and maintenance plan for the site. Any 
damage to this site would be against the spirit of the Partnership Agreement 
signed by Allerdale Borough Council. If the site is damaged or destroyed there 
would also be an expectation that Allerdale Borough Council will refund all 
restoration costs spent as part of the project on the site to date 
 
Highways England 
 

5.11 No comments 
 
Health and Safety Executive 
 

5.12 Do not advise against, on safety grounds, against the granting of planning 
permission in this case. 
 
Other Representations 
 

5.13 The application, has been advertised by press advert, site notice and neighbour 
letter. 3 letters/ emails of representations have been received to date and 
address the following: 

Page 39



 
a) Object to the planning application on the grounds of the impact to our 

operational business (Robin Rigg windfarm). Robin Rigg is a 174MW 
windfarm which is considered by the UK Government as nationally critical 
infrastructure, and generates enough electricity to power approx. 117,000 
homes, equivalent to half of Cumbria. With all the peripheral parts of the 
working day to get teams to the point of work on the turbines or offshore 
substations (including safety briefing, packing of tools and equipment for the 
working day, loading the vessels, sail time, personnel transfer, craning 
activities and isolations to make the turbines safe to work on, and the reverse 
at the end of the working day) staff typically only have around 4 hours of 
productive time working offshore during their 11 hour shift. Even a small 
erosion into this time will have a significant impact to our productivity and 
subsequently the electricity generation from critical infrastructure. The timings 
of the proposed bridge and road closure coincide with the start of our peak 
summer campaign. We try and condense as much work in the peak period 
due to improved weather and safe access offshore. As a direct result of 
COVID-19 RWE Renewables took the decision to postpone a number of 
critical work items from 2020, based on risk assessment, with the aim of 
minimising personnel on site during the pandemic to protect firstly the team, 
and secondly the continued reliability of the windfarm assets. With the timing 
of the bridge works this will now directly impact the work programs already 
planned for 2021, including works postponed from 2020. Concern over 
access to turbines; 

b) Concerns over loss of blue butterfly habitat; 
c) Irregularities in the application. 

 
 
6.0 Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 With regards to The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2017, the proposal is not considered to be EIA 
development and is not required to be accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement.  

 
 
7.0 Duties 
 
7.1 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations state that competent 

authorities are required to make an appropriate assessment of any plan or 
project they intend to permit or carry out, if the plan or project is likely to have a 
significant effect upon a European site. For the reasons set out within the 
Council’s Screening Opinion, the proposal is not considered likely to have any 
significant effect upon a European designated site.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



8.0 Development Plan Policies 
 
           Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 
 
8.1 The following policies are considered relevant;- 

 
Policy S1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Policy S2 – Sustainable development principles 
Policy S3 – Spatial Strategy and Growth 
Policy S4 – Design principles 
Policy S5 – Development principles 
Policy S12 – Land and premises 
Policy S13 – Energy Coast Innovation Zone 
Policy S6(a) – Area based Workington 
Policy S22 – Transport Principles 
Policy S23 – Supporting and Safeguarding Strategic Infrastructure 
Policy S24 – Green Infrastructure  
Policy S27  - Heritage Assets 
Policy S29 – Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy S30 – Re-use of land 
Policy S32 – Safeguarding Amenity 
Policy S33 – Landscape 
Policy S35 – Protecting and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
Policy S36 – Air Water and Soil Quality 
Policy DM4 – Expansion and Intensification of Employment Sites 
Policy DM14 – Standards of Good Design 
Policy DM16 – Sequential Test for Previously Developed land 
Policy DM17 – Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 
 
These policies can be found here;- 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-
plan-part-1/ 
 
 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 

 
8.2 The following policies are considered relevant:- 
 

Policy SA1 - Identified Sites 
Policy SA2 - Settlement Boundaries 
Policy SA31 - Gypsy and Traveller Site 
Policy SA34 - Employment Sites 
Policy SA35 - Safeguarding Employment Sites 
Policy SA36  - Land to the north of the Port of Workington 
Policy SA37  - Land at Oldside Workington 
Policy SA52 - Protecting and Creating Green Infrastructure 
 
These policies can be found here;- 
 
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 

Page 41

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/planning-building-control/planning-policy/local-plan-part-1/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


 
9.0      Other material considerations 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) 
 
9.1 Paragraph 80 advises that planning decisions should help create the conditions 

in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be 
placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into 
account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. The 
approach taken should allow each area to build on its strengths, counter any 
weaknesses and address the challenges of the future. 

 
9.2 Paragraph 213 advises that the weight afforded to development plan policies can 

vary according to their degree consistency with the framework (the closer the 
policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that 
may be given). 

 
9.3 Paragraph 212 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 advises 

that policies in that Framework are material consideration which should be taken 
into account in dealing with the applications from the day of its publication.  

 
9.4 The NPPF is available to view at:- 
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

 
Allerdale Council Strategy 2020-30 

9.5 Priority – Invest to Grow  

 Use our asset portfolio to create new or different opportunities (at Lillyhall, 
Oldside, Reedlands Road and Derwent Valley) 

 Utilise the Allerdale Investment Partnership, the Local Enterprise Partnership 
and Britain’s Energy Coast to stimulate growth 

 Work with partners on key economic sites and opportunities 

 
10.0 Policy weighting  
 
10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, 

if regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. This means that the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) 2014 and the 
Allerdale Borough Local Plan (Part 2) 2020 policies have primacy. 

 
10.2 In the context of paragraphs 212 and 213, with Part 2 of the Local Plan having 

only been adopted in July 2020 and consistent with the provisions of the NPPF, 
there is no reason why full weight cannot be afforded to it, alongside Part 1.  

 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


10.3 Members are therefore advised that the decision should be made in accordance 
with the development plan with no material considerations, such as the NPPF, 
being afforded sufficient weight or reducing the weight of the Plan to such an 
extent that a decision contrary to it could be made.  

 
 

11.0 Assessment 
 

Principle 
 
11.1 The principle of the proposed bridge refurbishment and new footbridge are 

accepted in this location. Policy S23 seeks to support and safeguard strategic 
infrastructure to include criteria d) West Cumbria railway service and criteria e) 
Access to Workington Port. Adopted Policy S13 sets out that the Council will 
work with partners to maximise the economic opportunities identified in the West 
Cumbria Economic Blueprint by supporting the Energy Coast Innovation Zone 
including through: 

 
a) Allocating land in line with the aims and objectives; 

 
b) Prioritising important land for investment and maintaining a portfolio of high 

quality sites: 
 

c) Supporting tourist development of Allerdale’s harbours; 
 

d) Playing a role in delivering supporting infrastructure, such as road and other 
transport upgrades, port of Workington, energy, broadband and community 
infrastructure as well as an appropriate stock of housing; 

 
e) Supporting development that contributes towards improving education, 

training and skills; 
 

f) Supporting other key objectives in the implementation plan. 
 
11.2 The new bridge scheme for Workington Port clearly responds to objectives b), d) 

and f) and to a degree, c) as well. There is a strategic fit with policies S13 and 
S23 of the Local Plan Part 1 and a facilitation of the strategic infrastructure 
delivery to enable the development of allocated sites as addressed under policies 
SA31, SA36 and SA37 of Part 2 of the Local Plan.  
This consideration is afforded substantial weight in the overall balance.  

 
           Design 
 
11.3 The utilitarian design and the stone, concrete and steel materials of the bridges 

are acceptable for the locality and for its purpose to provide strategic access to 
the Port of Workington in accordance with Policy S4 Design Principles of Part 1 
of the Local Plan, which addresses that good design relates not only to 
appearance of the development but how it functions within its location and how it 
contributes to a sustainable economy. 

 

Page 43



 
 
 
          Highways – The new permanent bridge  
 
11.4 The bridge is designed to accommodate the heavy loads as required for this 

locality providing access to Workington Port. Policies S2 and S22 of the Local 
Plan (Part 1) seek to ensure that new development is located in areas that help 
to reduce journey times, have safe and convenient access to public transport, 
improve travel choice and reduce the need to travel by private motor vehicles. 
This is a multi-modal solution. There are actually two bridges proposed; the new 
vehicular span and the separate footbridge/cyclebridge (now in situ). This permits 
safe access by foot, cycle and motor vehicle including, importantly, heavy goods 
vehicles to the port. Carriageway widths, gradients and alignments all meet the 
County Design Guide and ensure safe passage with optimum visibility afforded.  

 
11.5 In a wider strategic sense, the bridge permits the continued operation of the port, 

the consequences of its loss being the need to use port facilities elsewhere with 
environmentally, economically and socially unsustainable, longer journeys for 
goods and employees. It is acknowledged that the port is also served by a 
branch from the Cumbrian Coast railway line, but it is clear that the port is not 
viable with reliance on the railway alone.  

 
          Highways -Temporary Level Crossing 
 
11.6   In order to maintain access to the port there will be a temporary vehicular level 

crossing across the railway line with associated temporary haul roads to the east 
and west. Level crossings have inherent risks associated with them and a full risk 
assessment has been undertaken by Network Rail. In order to reduce and 
mitigate as much risk as possible Network Rail will be staffing the level crossing 
at all times with a Level Crossing Attendant, who will operate the level crossing. 
The crossing attendants will be in place 0700-2300 Monday to Friday and 0700 
till 15:30 Saturdays. At times outside of these hours the level crossing will be 
manned by security personnel and the gates will be left open for free movement 
of vehicles over the level crossing. Network Rail will also be providing a Park and 
Ride shuttle facility from the Allerdale House locality free of charge to the Port 
Staff and users in order to reduce the number of vehicles traversing the crossing 
each day. The park and ride will provide parking for up to 60 vehicles and a 
minibus provision will be provided to shuttle users over the TVLC to the Port of 
Workington. The traffic requirements relate to 120-150 HGVs per day, 40-60 Staff 
vehicles per day and 15-50 Motocross users on a Wednesday night and 
Weekends.  

 
11.7 It is considered the temporary level crossing arrangements are a pragmatic 

solution to address concerns regarding continued access to the port and any 
associated infrastructure and business operations in the vicinity. It is clear that 
they are an undesirable solution as a permanent feature as they do not offer the 
safety and convenience afforded by a bridge. However, given the very fact that 
the level crossing is only proposed for a period of circa 7 weeks and a new 

Page 44



temporary bridge is an unreasonable cost for such a short period of time, the 
principle of the crossing is considered acceptable in this instance.  

 
11.8 Members may be familiar with the geographical context of the temporary haul 

road’s proposed access from the A596. It utilises the access used for the 
temporary Tesco store (erected for a period during 2010) and is just south of the 
access to Dunmail Park (that includes Asda). Transport impact is minimised and 
safety assured due to the following considerations;- 

 
a) Much of the HGV traffic is from Iggesund less than 1km to the north on the 

A596. As members may know, this considerable site has the capacity for 
vehicles to wait there (thereby avoiding vehicles waiting on the A596). 
 

b) Even if vehicles, including HGVs, arrived and entered the haul road but the 
level crossing was temporarily closed to permit a train to pass, there is a 
length of in excess of 185m clear of the adopted extent of the A596 and the 
proposed railway level crossing barrier. With 16.65m being the maximum 
intermodal articulated HGV length permitted on UK roads, this allows for up to 
11 such HGVs to wait in line on the haul road for the crossing to open. The 
gates will only be closed to permit the safe passage of the train and then the 
signalperson will give the all clear. With the anticipated daily movements of 
120-150 HGVs, the length of haul road without an off-line waiting/stacking 
area is considered appropriate. 

 

11.9 For vehicles approaching the level crossing from the west (the port side) there is 
obviously capacity to hold them at the port itself before releasing for the journey 
across the crossing and onwards to their destination. There is also in excess of 
320m of new two-way haul road to permit the safe waiting for vehicles to cross. 

 
11.10 Off-line waiting areas were part of the original proposal and this prompted 

comments from consultees such as the Butterfly Conservation Trust concerned 
at the ecological impact of the waiting area (loss of habitat for, amongst other 
species, the small blue butterfly). The deletion of the waiting area addresses this 
matter. 

 
11.11 Members may have also noted the comments from the Robin Rigg Windfarm 

concerned about access. The revised arrangements with the ability to use the 
temporary haul road and crossing and the clarification of the times when this will 
be open (at all times during the night and at all times except when a train is 
passing during the day) is considered to respond to this concern about the ability 
to access the port. Port representatives have raised no objections and have been 
participants in weekly briefings and engagement by Network Rail.  
The Management Plan also appropriately addresses access to the port by the 
emergency services and RNLI.  

  
          Public Right of Way (No. 262029) 
 
11.12  This path runs through the field west of the railway. A permanent diversion has 

been applied for under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act. 
Access will be facilitated through the worksite until the temporary diversion is in 

Page 45



place. Access across the compound and worksites will be facilitated via a 
banksman until the diversion is approved. The cycleway will remain open and 
access will be facilitated by banksmen when construction activity is near the 
vicinity of the footway / cycleway. In reality the definitive line of the public footpath 
is not used anyway. The concurrent application for the actual diversion will be 
considered against the “necessity” and “merits” tests. The necessity will arise 
from the granting of this permission as it physically blocks the path’s existing 
alignment as a result of the required engineering operations in the vicinity of the 
new bridge crossing.  

 

          Ecology 
 
11.13 Policy S35 of the Local Plan Part 1 applies. This policy has consistency with the 

NPPF and provides a framework for consideration of proposals. It details that the 
highest level of protection is afforded to nationally and internationally designated 
sites and species. It also reflects the sequential approach that impact should be 
avoided through protection but permits mitigation or compensation (in that order) 
if the development presents “significant economic or social benefits for the local 
community.” The policy continues by advising that “where a development poses 
significant harm to an irreplaceable habitat which cannot be mitigated or 
compensated for, permission will be refused.” Bio-diversity net gain is sought but 
not a matter currently which could justify withholding planning permission.  

 
11.14 In this policy context, officers opine that the development does present those 

significant and social benefits; these are already outlined in paragraphs 11.2 and 
11.5 of this report. Essentially, the future of the port rests on the delivery of the 
new vehicular bridge.  

 
11.15 Members are advised that all avenues to try and avoid ecological impact were 

investigated; the Council itself owns much of the land included within the 
application site and the alignments for alternative routes for the temporary 
access. As already advised, officers are firmly of the opinion that the closure of 
access to the port for road traffic for 7 weeks or so would have significant impacts 
on its economic sustainability. Users such as Robin Rigg Wind Farm have clearly 
and explicitly voiced understandable, reasonable and real concerns about any 
halt in the continuity of access to and from the port.  

 
11.16 Therefore, accepting a temporary route is required, the area of search is limited 

to the wedge of land bordered by the River Derwent, the coastline and the A596. 
At some point a safe crossing of the railway needs to be made. Locations further 
north are restricted by existing development both west (turbines) and east 
(Siddick) of the railway line. Further south, the areas that would be affected by 
the route are characterised by species rich priority habitat. The route now being 
pursued minimises impact but mitigation is necessary as total avoidance can’t be 
secured. 

 
11.17 The ecological impact is limited to the construction phase rather than the 

operational phase and, specifically, to the construction of the temporary haul 
road and the construction compound immediately to the northwest of the bridges. 

Page 46



 1 hectare of semi-improved neutral grassland is lost, much as a result of the 
compound and 0,22 of a hectare of species rich priority habitat. 

 
11.18  This species rich grassland, the small blue butterfly (and its kidney vetch habitat) 

and bats are a particular focus of the impact assessment and identification of 
mitigation.  

 
11.19 In relation to bats, the habitat around the site offers a low potential for foraging 

being open and exposed grassland in a coastal location. There is poor 
connectivity between the site and higher quality foraging areas. The bridge 
affected by the proposed works has negligible potential for use by bats. No 
indications of use of the site by bats were found during the survey. On the basis 
of the survey work carried out, under guidance provided in respect of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017), and considering the 
plans for the site, it is considered that a European Protected Species Mitigation 
(EPSM) Licence for bats will not be required prior to works being carried out.  

 

11.20  The temporary loss of 1ha of semi-improved neutral grassland in the area of the 
proposed compound is not considered significant. On completion of the project 
the area should be allowed to recolonise with the species currently present. This 
may require removal of hardcore or concrete surfaces, but topsoil should not be 
introduced. The species community has developed on a nutrient-poor freely 
draining substrate. Works can be secured by planning condition. 

 
11.21  The grassland further north is species rich and a priority habitat. Under current 

proposals approximately 0.22ha (280m x 8m) of this habitat will be lost during 
construction of the temporary access road. Mitigation options identified by the 
applicant’s ecologist include translocating turfs from the affected area and 
maintaining them, then reinstating them once the project is completed or, 
alternatively, allowing the grassland to re-establish following removal of the 
temporary access road and management of the semi-improved neutral grassland 
on site or the open mosaic habitat adjacent to the site. Enhancement options 
include management of the semi-improved neutral grassland on site or the 
adjacent open mosaic habitat. 

 
11.22 Members are advised that the translocation of the turf is considered necessary to 

ensure the habitat is preserved rather than rely on the probability that nature will 
naturally regenerate the same species’ richness. There are risks associated with 
such translreocations but with the management also proposed as an 
enhancement, the risks can be managed to a degree that is acceptable. A 
condition is necessary to ensure that the transrelocation complies with 
international guidelines. 

 
11.23  Nesting birds may use areas of grassland and scrub. To avoid impacts to nesting 

birds, which are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) vegetation removal should ideally be undertaken between September 
and February inclusive. If this is not practical a pre-works survey should be 
undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist no more than 48 hours prior to works. 
Should active nests be identified a suitable buffer zone would need to be 
maintained until the chicks have fledged.  

Page 47



 
11.24 Officers are aware that some preparation works have already occurred outside of 

the nesting season i.e. before the 1st March but there are further works to be 
undertaken in the coming weeks if permission is granted. The pre-works survey 
is therefore necessary by the ecologist. This can be secured by condition.  

 
11.25  Widespread reptile species such as common lizard and slow worm may be 

present on the railway embankments, especially around the edges of scrub but 
possibly beneath logs, rocks or railway sleepers. These species are protected 
against intentional killing / injuring. No evidence of badgers was recorded during 
the survey. However, suitable habitat is present within adjacent woodland and 
along the railway corridor. There is vegetation clearance necessary to facilitate 
the development, particularly along the route of the temporary haul road in the 
vicinity of the level crossing (the railway line is flanked by a corridor of vegetation 
that will need to be breached by the haul road). Members are advised that it is 
necessary that such clearance works abide to a Precautionary Working Method 
Statement (PWMS) to minimise risk of incidental harm to badgers. The same 
mitigation, secured by condition, is necessary to respond to the potential 
presence of hedgehogs within the vegetation.  

 
Landscape and Visual Amenity 

 
11.26 Policy S33 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 1 seeks to ensure that the landscape 

character and local distinctiveness of the Plan area are protected, conserved and 
where possible, enhanced. Policy S32 seeks to resist development that would 
have a detrimental impact on the visual amenities of the local area. Policies S4, 
and DM14 seek to ensure (amongst other matters) that new development is of a 
high quality design, of appropriate scale and appearance and responds positively 
to the character, history and distinctiveness of the locality.  

 
11.27 The construction phase of the development will have the most impact on the 

existing landscape, especially the compound and the temporary haul road. The 
railway line will be a sensitive visual receptor, albeit views of the works will be 
fleeting from passing passenger trains accelerating away northbound from 
Workington station or slowing southbound for that stop. The impact is considered 
to be slight given the temporary period of the works and fleeting nature of the 
glimpses. 

 
11.28 Change experienced from the A596 will be negligible given the fact that the haul 

road will use the pre-existing macadam access to the former Tesco site for the 
first 100m or so from this road. The vegetation flanking the railway retained for 
nearly all its length and the changes in levels will minimise harm. 

 
11.29 For the operational phase, the grassland will have returned to the sites of the 

compound and haul road and the two bridges (one separate pedestrian bridge) in 
the same location as the existing bridge will result in negligible landscape change 
and, therefore, negligible harm. Indeed, the impact is considered to be neutral 
especially as the grassland re-establishes itself.  

 
 

Page 48



Heritage Assets 
 
11.30 There are no heritage features affected by the development or their setting.  
 
11.31 The existing bridge is of no particular architectural or historical quality. It appears 

to occupy the location annotated on late Victorian maps, these maps reveal a 
purpose serving a road access to Workington Hematite Iron and Steel Works 
rather than the port. However the maps also reveal that the bridge comprised or 
two spans, spanning many more railway lines than the two that exist today. There 
are also signs on the ground that the bridge has been repaired at some point and 
the original form is rather diluted by these interventions, although the sandstone 
facing on the arch and parapets survives. Given the bridge is not considered to 
be a non-designated heritage asset, its loss is not afforded any weight in the 
overall balance.  

 
           Local Financial Considerations 

 
11.32  Having regard to S70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act the proposal will 

have no financial implications. 
 
 
 12.0  Balance and conclusions  
 
12.1 The new bridge scheme for Workington Port clearly responds to objectives b), d) 

and f) and to a degree, c) of policy S13 of the Local Plan Part 1. There is a 
strategic fit with policies S13 and S23 of the Local Plan Part 1 and a facilitation of 
the strategic infrastructure delivery to enable the development of allocated sites 
as addressed under policies SA31, SA36 and SA37 of Part 2 of the Local Plan.  
This consideration is afforded substantial weight in the overall balance.  

 
12.2 There are some risks that the mitigation proposed to respond to the ecological 

impact will not work, but the risk is low and the mitigation can be secured by 
condition. Significant harm is not considered to arise as a result. Members are 
also reminded that policy S35 advises that “developments that present significant 
economic and social benefits (as this scheme does) may be permitted where 
necessary impacts can be mitigated or compensated.” There is accordance here, 
in the latest negotiated iteration of the scheme, with policy S35. 

 
12.3 There is no other conflict with development plan policies and, therefore, it is 

recommended permission be granted subject to conditions securing compliance 
with the ecological mitigation and traffic management plan. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Grant permission subject to conditions. 

 

 

Page 49



Annex 1 

Conditions: 

TIME LIMIT 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: In order to comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH: 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out solely in accordance 
with the following plans:  

a) 7561070 Rev B Site Location Plan 

b) Existing and general arrangements 139337-MMD-00-XX-DR-C-1001 REV P02 

c) Preliminary Ecological Appraisal September 2020 

d) Bat Survey at Siddick Bridge (envirotech) 

e) Amended CBC2 39 Siddick Bridge Traffic Management Plan received 5th 
March 2021 

Reason: In order to ensure that the development is carried out in complete accordance 
with the approved plans and any material and non-material alterations to the scheme 
are properly considered. 

PRECOMMENCEMENT  

3. No development of the temporary haul road element hereby approved shall 
commence until a method statement for the transrelocation of turf within the 
alignment of the haul road has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The development shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved method statement. 

Reason: Transrelocation of turf is necessary mitigation to preserve species rich 
grassland priority habitat and to accord with policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 
1 2014.  

OTHER 

4.  Access to and from the port and all other sites currently accessed by the 
existing bridge shall be in accordance with the provisions of the amended CBC2 
39 Siddick Bridge Traffic Management Plan received on 5th March 2021 following 
the existing bridge being removed and until the new vehicular bridge granted by 
this permission is first brought into use.  

Page 50



Reason: In the interests of safeguarding highway safety during the construction works 
of the development hereby approved, in compliance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policy S2, S22 and S23 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1), Adopted 
July 2014. 

5. Use of the temporary haul road shall cease within 3 days of the new vehicular 
bridge hereby approved being first available for use and the land restored, in 
accordance with the turf transrelocation methodology cited in condition 3, to its 
existing condition identified in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated 
September 2020, within 3 months of the cessation of the haul road’s last day of 
use.   

Reason: Firstly, in the interests of safeguarding highway safety, in compliance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy S2, S22 and S23 of the Allerdale Local 
Plan (Part 1), Adopted July 2014, as a level crossing is not an appropriate permanent 
solution. Secondly, the cessation of the use of the temporary haul road and 
reinstatement of species rich grassland is considered necessary to accord with policy 
S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan Part 2014.  

6. In addition to the requirements of condition 3, all construction works, and the 
associated habitat and species avoidance, remediation and enhancement works 
shall be implemented solely in accordance with the mitigation and compensation 
strategy outlined in Section 9 of the Bat Survey report received 8 October 2019 
and Section 4 Discussions and Recommendations of the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal September 2020. 

Reason: To safeguard the habitat of bats in compliance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy S35 of the Allerdale Local Plan (Part 1) Adopted July 
2014. 

 

Advisory Note 

• The developer should consider a protective shelter for construction staff to take 
refuge, in the event of the release of toxic chemicals or in the event of fire on the 
Vertellus Site; 
 
• All construction staff employed on site to receive a copy of the Information leaflet 
produced by Vertellus Specialties UK Ltd and receive specific instruction on procedures 
to follow in the event of an emergency at the Vertellus plant; 
 
• Details of measures to be taken to guarantee, at current capacities (including that of 
the currently available overspill areas adjacent to the ponds), Vertellus’ ability to 
contain, control and export foul water and trade effluent. 
 
 

Page 51



 

Page 52



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Planning Application TPO/15/2020 
 
 

Development Panel Report 

 
Reference Number: TPO/2020/0015 

Valid Date: 30.09.2020 

Location: Cattle Pound at High Ellerbeck Bridge, Ellerbeck 
Row, Brigham.  

  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the made Order TPO/15/2020 for the Alder tree at the Cattle Pound, High 
Ellerbeck Bridge, Ellerbeck Brow, Brigham be confirmed.   
 

1.0 Summary 

Issue Conclusion 

Tree Preservation Order The tree is of high amenity value, meeting 
the criteria under the TEMPO assessment 
for a TPO to be defensible therefore it is 
recommended that the TPO be 
confirmed.  

 
2.0      Introduction  
 
2.1 A Tree Preservation Order was made on the 30th September 2020 following    

concerns from a resident of Brigham that the tree was to be felled.  The Parish 
Council had previously contacted the Local Planning Authority to ascertain as 
to whether the tree was protected and stated their intentions to remove it. 
Officers considered that the tree merited protection following the legal process 
explained in this report.  

 
 
3.0 Site 

 
3.1 This is a former cattle pound located at Ellerbeck Bridge and is protected as a 

Grade II Listed structure. The former use of the site as a cattle pound has 
ceased.  The listed description states thus; 

 
“BRIGHAM ELLERBECK BROW NY 03 SE (West side) Brigham 4/82 Cattle 
pound at High 3-3-67 Ellerbeck Bridge (previously listed as "Cattle Pond at 
Ellerbeck Bridge") II Cattle pound. Early C19. Calciferous sandstone rubble. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Low drystone wall with alternative large and small stone coping, enclosing a 
small roughly rectangular area between a field and the former road leading to 
a ford over the river. Now disused and overgrown but a rare survival in this 
area” 

 
3.2 To the north and west of the site there are residential properties with 

agricultural land to the east and south which includes a number of trees.  A 
watercourse (the Eller Beck) also runs directly adjacent to the site. Ellerbeck 
Brow is the main thoroughfare through the village of Brigham.   

 
3.3 The tree is a semi mature Alder situated within the south corner of the site 

and is highly visible to public view.  
 
 
4.0 Legal background 

4.1 The primary legislation relating to Tree Preservation Orders is the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by section 192 of the 2008 Planning 
Act. The 1990 Act provides the ability for secondary legislation to be made 
setting out the statutory framework for the making and confirming of Tree 
Preservation Orders. Currently this is the Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012 which came into force on 6 April 
2012.  

4.2 The Council also have duties under the Listed Building Act 1990 to ensure 
that the architectural and historical features that the structure possesses are 
preserved. This is relevant in this case as the Parish Council are concerned 
that the tree is directly impacting on the structural integrity of the Pound.  

 
5.0 Policy and Guidance Framework  

5.1 Following the publication of the first National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) in 20121 the government commenced the on-line National Planning 
Practice Guidance (NPPG) to replace guidance such as circulars. The NPPG 
is a live document that can be updated. At the time of this report it advised 
that:- 

“Local planning authorities can make a Tree Preservation Order if it appears 
to them to be ‘expedient in the interests of amenity to make provision for the 
preservation of trees or woodlands in their area‘. 

5.2 Authorities can either initiate this process themselves or in response to a 
request made by any other party. When deciding whether an Order is 
appropriate, authorities are advised to take into consideration what ‘amenity’ 
means in practice, what to take into account when assessing amenity value, 

                                                 
1 A 3rd edition of the NPPF now applies (Feb 2019)  

Page 54

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/part/VIII
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/605/regulation/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/198
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/198
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#Tree-Preservation-Orders-made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#amenity-value


what ‘expedient’ means in practice, what trees can be protected and how they 
can be identified.”2 

Amenity 

5.3 It is noted that ‘Amenity’ is not defined in the primary or secondary legislation 
so a judgement has to be made.  The NPPG advises that Orders should be 
used to protect selected trees and woodlands if their removal would have a 
significant negative impact on the local environment and its enjoyment by the 
public. Before authorities make or confirm an Order they should be able to 
show that protection would bring a reasonable degree of public benefit in the 
present or future. It cites various criteria which can be used by councils to 
make the judgement:- 

 Visibility - The extent to which the tree can be seen by the public. It 
should normally be visible from a public place, such as a road or footpath, 
or accessible by the public. 

 Individual, collective and wider impact - Public visibility alone will not be 
sufficient to warrant an Order.  The Council also needs to consider size 
and form; future potential as an amenity; rarity, cultural or historic value; 
contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape and; contribution to 
the character or appearance of a conservation area. 

Where relevant the Council may also consider taking into account other 
factors, such as importance to nature conservation or response to climate 
change. These factors alone would not warrant making an Order. 

Expediency  

5.4 It may be expedient to make an Order if the Council believes there is a risk of 
trees being felled, pruned or damaged in ways which would have a significant 
impact on the amenity of the area. However, it is not necessary for there to be 
immediate risk for there to be a need to protect trees. In some cases the 
Council may believe that certain trees are at risk as a result of known 
pressures for its removal. As explained in this report, this is the case here.  

 Heritage assets 
 
5.5 The NPPF with its complementary guidance details out to assess the impact 

on the significance of heritage assets.  
 
 
 
 

                                                 

2 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 36-005-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014 

 

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#expedient-means
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#what-trees-protected
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#trees-identified
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#trees-identified


6.0     History 

6.1 The tree was assessed for a Tree Preservation Order following concerns 
being received from a resident of Brigham in September 2020 of the Parish 
Councils intention to fell the tree.  

6.2 The tree was assessed using the tempo method (Tree Evaluation Method for 
Tree Preservation Orders) and scored a total of 14 – Tree Preservation Order 
defensible. A TPO was therefore placed on the tree on the 30 September 
2020.  At this time, the Parish Council was notified of the TPO and a copy of 
the order was later displayed at the site due to the land being unregistered 
and therefore the legal land owner unknown.   

 
7.0 Representations 
 

Brigham Parish Council  
 
7.1 The Parish Council object to the TPO on the grounds that the tree is self-

seeded and un-owned, does not contribute to the street scene, diminishes 
light to two adjacent properties, is out of line with the wildlife corridor, cattle 
pounds do not normally include trees, potential damage to listed enclosure 
and not appropriate to protect a young Alder with a TPO.  

 
Other 

 
7.2 Five representations of support have been received for the TPO which refer to 

the tree being healthy, encourages wildlife, is not causing damage to the 
cattle pound enclosure, helps with flooding issues and adds character to the 
cattle pound.  

 
 
8.0      Assessment 
    

 Condition  
 
8.1 The TEMPO assessment carried out confirms that the tree is worthy of 

protection and is in fair/satisfactory condition. 
 

Amenity 
 
8.2 The Alder tree is considered to be a prominent feature being the only tree 

situated within the cattle pound and is visible from various public vantage 
points on Ellerbeck Brow. It is of semi-mature age class and has a retention 
span of between 40 to 100 years.  Although there are other trees adjacent to 
the site, the Alder tree subject of this report is the only tree within the pound 
and adds character to this unused site and provides amenity value.  

 

Page 56



The TEMPO assessment carried out resulted in a score of 14 – TPO 
defensible.  This score was reached following the following criteria (listed with 
scores and definitions):- 

 
Part 1: Amenity assessment  

 
a) Condition and suitability of TPO – score of 3 (fair/satisfactory) 
b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO – score of 4 (40-100 

suitable) 
c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO – score of 3 (medium trees or 

large trees with limited view only) 
d) Other factors – score of 1 (trees with no additional redeeming features)  

 
Part 2: Expediency assessment 

 
Score of 3 – foreseeable threat to tree. 

 
Part 3: Decision guide 

 
Total score of 14 – TPO defensible 

 
Expediency  

 
8.3 The tree was protected following concerns that the Parish Council intended to 

remove it.  Having carried out the tempo assessment it was confirmed that the 
tree merits protection under a TPO and was under foreseeable threat which 
still exists should the TPO not be confirmed. Therefore it is considered 
expedient to confirm the tree preservation order.  

 
 Heritage  
 
8.4 The listing describes the Pound as featuring sandstone rubble, drystone walls 

with alternative large and small stone coping (cock’n’hen), enclosing a small 
roughly rectangular area. Of note is that the “rear” wall does not feature the 
described cock’n’hen capping and this suggests it has been rebuilt. Indeed, 
this rear wall seems to match the wall that continues southwards alongside 
the dwelling fronting the Pound. Of note also is that the walls, including the 
three cock’n’hen capped sides are no longer dry stone and feature mortar 
joints. There have obviously been some repairs which, although not entirely 
sensitive to the Pound’s historical and architectural qualities, have 
nevertheless assisted in its structural integrity. The tree sits within the walls 
and not against them and there is no sign of any structural failure to the walls 
as a result of the roots.  

 
8.5 Furthermore, the legibility of the history of the Pound’so is not diluted in any 

way; the enclosed space is still visually open as the tree sits as a single 
slender entity in low grass. All of the Pound’s sides are clearly visible as are 
their heights and detail. One would actually suggest that the tree 
complements the scene by softening the impact of the later dwellings to the 

Page 57



rear and reinforcing the rural, natural environment which would have been 
and still is the Pound’s setting.  

 
 
 
9.0      Conclusion 
 
9.1 The tree is considered to make a significant contribution to amenity, meets the 

decision criteria under the TEMPO assessment and the expediency test is 
also met. There is negligible harm to the significance of the Pound as a 
heritage asset. It is therefore recommended that the TPO be confirmed.   

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

 

           

 

 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 60


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Development Panel - Land at Ashfield Road South, Workington - Reserved matters application for phase 2 of approved outline application 2/2014/0857 for 255 new dwellings
	6 Development Panel - Siddick Overbridge, Siddick, Workington - Reconstruction of existing highway bridge, construction of new footbridge, realignment of existing footway and associated works including a Temporary Vehicle Level Crossing, haul road and vehicle waiting area to enable the highways diversion during the highways bridge works
	7 Development Panel - Cattle Pound at High Ellerbeck Bridge, Ellerbeck Row, Brigham.

